STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal From Lancaster County
Hon. Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2021-000622

RECEIVED

Jan 28 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The State,

Petitioner,

v.

Guadalupe Guzman Morales,

Respondent.

Opinion No. 5814 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 7, 2021)

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar Number 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON CERTIORARI

- I. The issue addressed by the Court of Appeals was not preserved for review on appeal and was waived and conceded at trial by Respondent's counsel. As a result, the Court of Appeals erred by addressing it on the merits. Further, the evidence and testimony of the second victim was properly admitted as a common scheme or plan whether under the standard that existed at the time or under the Court's articulated standard in State v. Perry, 430 S.C. 24, 824 S.E.2d 654 (2020) and State v. Cotton, 430 S.C. 112, 844 S.E.2d 56 (2020).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

In October 2002, Respondent was arrested for two counts of criminal sexual conduct (CSC) with a minor second degree and one count of attempted CSC with a minor second degree. He was subsequently indicted in 2003 for the charges, but a fire in the Lancaster Courthouse in 2008 destroyed the indictments. (App. 10-11) Respondent was re-indicted in 2016 on charges of CSC with a minor first degree, CSC with a minor second degree, and assault with intent to commit CSC with a minor second degree. (True-billed Indictments; App. 406-411).

After two pretrial hearings, Respondent proceeded to trial before the Honorable Roger E. Henderson and a jury. The jury returned verdicts of guilty on all charges. (App.391). Judge Henderson sentenced Respondent to thirty years imprisonment for CSC with a minor first degree; ten years imprisonment, to be served consecutively, for CSC with a minor second degree; and ten years imprisonment, to be served concurrently, for assault with intent to commit CSC with a minor second degree—totaling forty years in prison. (Sentencing Sheets; App. 412-414).

The Court of Appeals, after briefing, affirmed the convictions and sentences. See State v. Morales, Op. No. 2020-UP-001 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Jan. 8, 2020). Respondent petitioned to this Court arguing the trial court erred in its application of State v. Wallace, 384 S.C. 428, 683 S.E.2d 275 (2009). This Court granted certiorari, dispensed with further briefing, reversed the decision of the Court of Appeals, and remanded for “reconsideration of the substantive and procedural issues in light of [the Supreme Court’s] decision in State v. Perry, 430 S.C. 24, 824 S.E.2d 654 (2020).”

On October 7, 2020, the Court of Appeals sent a letter in light of the remand requesting the parties provide a memorandum addressing the impact of Perry on this appeal. The parties both served and filed supplemental briefs. After oral argument, the Court of Appeals issued an opinion reversing and remanding for a new trial. State v. Morales, 433 S.C. 196, 857 S.E.2d 383 (Ct. App. 2021). The State served and filed a Petition for Rehearing on April 22, 2021, which was denied on May 13, 2021.

The State served and filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari and Respondent filed his Return. On December 10, 2021, this Court granted the State's Petition for Writ of Certiorari and ordered briefing. This Brief of Petitioner follows.

Factual Background

When the victim was younger¹, she lived with her mother, Respondent, and two younger sisters. (App. 141-142). The victim's sisters were about two and five years younger than her. While she lived with Respondent, the victim believed he was her biological father, but found out later he was not. (App.144).

Respondent began sexually touching the victim when she was just four years old. She and her family lived in a different trailer. The victim and her middle sister were jumping on the bed. Respondent flipped her onto her back and pulled her to the edge of the bed. He spread her legs and rubbed his groin against hers on the outside of her clothing. (App. 147-148). When the victim turned around seven, Respondent began digitally penetrating her. Most of the time it occurred at home, but also in the car or at the river. The victim's mom was rarely home when it occurred or occasionally would be in the shower. (App. 148-150).

¹ At the time of trial, the victim was twenty-eight years old. (App. 140).

The abuse continued to escalate to Respondent raping the victim. When she was eleven years old the family planned to go to Carowinds for her birthday. The family was getting ready, and her mom was in the shower when Respondent, who the victim believed was her dad, told her to get on the bed with him if she wanted to go to Carowinds. She tried to resist, but he insisted. Respondent then raped the eleven-year-old victim. (App. 145-146). Later that summer, the victim's mom and sisters went to the store. The victim was in trouble and confined to her room. Respondent entered and again raped the eleven-year-old girl. She realized the window was open and tried to scream, but Respondent put his hand over her mouth. (App. 152-153). The victim never told anyone because she was scared, did not want to be called a liar, and did not want to be judged. (App.154).

After the victim was kicked out of the house with her mother and Respondent, she went to live with her Uncle Jimmy and his girlfriend Michelle. (App. 141; 155). Michelle walked the victim to the bus stop for school. One day the victim was being very quiet or distant. Michelle asked if the victim was doing okay. (App.155; 264-265). The victim disclosed the years of abuse by Respondent.

Respondent also sexually abused the middle sister, the second victim. She believed Respondent was her father at the time of the abuse but was unsure of the truth as she got older. The abuse began when she was about three years old. Respondent would have her sit on his lap and would touch her under her underwear. The abuse occurred in the home. (App. 273-274). When the second victim was eight, Respondent saw that she could not sleep and had her get in the bed with him. Her mom was not home at the time. Respondent lay in the bed behind the second victim and pulled down her pants and underwear. She felt his penis touch her buttocks. (App. 276). The second victim did not tell anyone when the abuse was occurring, but later told

her grandmother about the abuse after her older sister disclosed to Michelle and their grandmother. (App.276).

ARGUMENT

- I. **The issue addressed by the Court of Appeals was not preserved for review on appeal and was waived and conceded at trial by Respondent's counsel. As a result, the Court of Appeals erred by addressing it on the merits. Further, the evidence and testimony of the second victim was properly admitted as a common scheme or plan whether under the standard that existed at the time or under the Court's articulated standard in State v. Perry, 430 S.C. 24, 824 S.E.2d 654 (2020) and State v. Cotton, 430 S.C. 112, 844 S.E.2d 56 (2020).**

The Court of Appeals erred in addressing the Rule 404(b), SCRE, issue as raised by Respondent on its merits because Respondent failed to properly preserve the issue for review. Respondent did not raise any issue related to the testimony being inadmissible under Rule 404(b) when the actual testimony was being admitted after raising it during a pre-trial, *in limine* hearing. Instead, he raised an entirely new issue, arguing the testimony was inadmissible bolstering. Most significantly, Respondent specifically waived and conceded the issue regarding whether the testimony by the second victim properly constituted a common scheme or plan, so the Court of Appeals erred in allowing it to be addressed on appeal. Even if the procedural bars are overlooked, the testimony of the second victim was properly admitted under the standard applicable to the court—and specifically addressed by both parties—at the time under State v. Wallace, 384 S.C. 428, 683 S.E.2d 275 (2009). Finally, even if this Court's newly articulated standard of State v. Perry, 430 S.C. 24, 824 S.E.2d 654 (2020) and State v. Cotton, 430 S.C. 112, 844 S.E.2d 56 (2020) are applicable to the facts of this case, the testimony was properly admitted by the trial court. This Court should find the issue raised to and addressed by the Court of Appeals not properly preserved for review on appeal, find the issue was waived and conceded by Respondent's counsel at trial, and find the testimony was properly admitted as demonstrative of a common scheme or plan under Rule 404(b).

Preservation of Issues on Appeal

Initially, the pre-trial hearing regarding the testimony of the second victim—when Respondent did raise the issue of Rule 404(b)—did not result in a final ruling. Specifically, the trial court stated: “I’m prepared to issue a conditional ruling” and later reiterated: “Again it is a conditional ruling”. (App. 117). He ended his ruling by stating: “So -- that’s not a ruling that’s just, you know, and inclination . . . an inclination on my part at this point in time so - - but I am conditionally ruling with regards to the testimony of [the second victim], though.” (App. 117-118). Because this was an *in limine* ruling and the court made it abundantly clear it was a conditional ruling and an “inclination”, it was not a final ruling by the trial court. See State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001) (“[M]aking a motion *in limine* to exclude evidence at the beginning of trial does not preserve an issue for review because a motion *in limine* is not a final determination. The moving party, therefore, must make a contemporaneous objection when the evidence is introduced.”); State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 156, 679 S.E.2d 172, 175 (2009) (“Generally, a motion *in limine* is not a final determination; a contemporaneous objection must be made when the evidence is introduced.”); State v. Atieh, 397 S.C. 641, 646, 725 S.E.2d 730, 733 (Ct. App. 2012) (“A ruling *in limine* is not final; unless an objection is made at the time the evidence is offered and a final ruling procured, the issue is not preserved for review.”).

This Court recently reaffirmed the long-standing rule that generally a party must raise a contemporaneous objection when the evidence or testimony is actually admitted after obtaining only a conditional ruling during a pre-trial *in limine* hearing:

In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, a party must make a “contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial court.” If an evidentiary ruling is pretrial, a contemporaneous objection must be raised during trial when the evidence is

admitted, whereas a party need not renew an objection if the decision is final.

State v. Jones, 435 S.C. 138, 866 S.E.2d 558, 561 (2021).² While this Court created a new standard to apply to a constitutional question, the long-standing rule of Forrester and State v. Mueller, 319 S.C. 266, 268, 460 S.E.2d 409, 410 (Ct. App. 1995), otherwise “remains good law.” Id. Accordingly, because his objection was not on a constitutional basis, it was incumbent on **Respondent** to make a further objection to the introduction of the second victim’s testimony based on Rule 404(b) if he sought to preserve the issue for review on appeal.

In order to properly preserve an issue for review on appeal, the process has been succinctly stated with four basic requirements: “The issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity.” Jean Hoefler Toal et al., Appellate Practice in South Carolina 57 (2d ed. 2002). “An appellate court may not, of course, *reverse* for any reason appearing in the record. The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it is has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred.” I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 421–22, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (italics in original). This Court further announced: “imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” Id. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724; see also, State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 66, 406 S.E.2d 315, 327 (1991) (eliminating *in favorem vitae* review in death penalty cases and holding: “A contemporaneous objection requirement enables trial judges to make reasoned decisions by appropriately developing issues by way of argument, both for or against any particular legal proposition. This, in turn, allows potential errors to be prevented or cured.”). The

² At the time of this Brief, this Court is considering Petitions for Rehearing filed by both parties.

Court noted the purpose of an appeal is to determine whether the trial judge erroneously acted or failed to act and when appellant's contentions are not presented or passed on by the trial judge, such contentions will not be considered on appeal. Id. Previously, this Court has explained:

The purpose of an appeal under our procedure is to determine if the lower court did something that it should not have done, or omitted doing something it should have done. A trial judge will not be reversed for failing to grant a motion on a ground that was not submitted to him.

Powers v. City of Aiken, 255 S.C. 115, 117, 177 S.E.2d 370, 371 (1970). The Court of Appeals overlooked this relevant case law and, instead, reversed the conviction merely because the issue appeared somewhere within the record—not where it was required to appear in order to properly preserve the issue for review on appeal and not raised by the party required to raise it in order to properly preserve the issue for review on appeal.

The Court of Appeals, in making its ruling on preservation, completely overlooked the relevant sequence of events leading to the trial court's ruling on the issues presented. While the defendant did move pre-trial to exclude the testimony of the second victim based on Rule 404(b), it was **the State** and **not Respondent** who requested the final ruling from the trial court on whether the second victim's testimony would be admissible.³ Pre-trial, the court made it clear he was not making a final ruling on admissibility repeating multiple times that he was making a "conditional ruling." (App.117-118). At trial, before the second witness testified, **the State** asked the judge: "before we get rolling tomorrow I wanted to get a final ruling from the Court on the bad act testimony we intend to elicit from [the second victim]." (App.215). The State then

³ Counsel for Respondent did not join in the motion, agree the issue needed to be determined, or make any other indication that he was still seeking to object based on the testimony not meeting the requirements under Rule 404(b) that were in existence at the time of trial.

presented its argument on admissibility including recounting all the similarities involved—especially the “circumstances with that familial relationship.” (App.216).

Respondent did **not** continue to raise an objection pursuant to Rule 404(b). Instead, after hearing the evidence presented by the victim and being able to compare it to the pre-trial testimony by the second victim, he shifted his objection to something he believed may be more advantageous. Respondent’s trial counsel acknowledged the similarities of the testimony by agreeing the witnesses are saying the “same thing” and that the testimony established a “conspiracy” or a “pattern.” Essentially, he admitted the second victim’s testimony was sufficiently similar to the victim’s testimony to establish a common scheme or plan.

Your Honor, since the ruling that you made in Chesterfield on a temporary basis. We heard some testimony. We haven’t heard [Victim two]’s testimony but we did hear it there that day. It appears to me that it is becoming a little bit more clear as to where the conspiracy is, if that’s what you want to call it; **the pattern. And I think that now I’m seeing a pattern of – I’m seeing a pattern of conspiracy.**

. . . .

But the consortium of witnesses **that are saying the same thing for the same reason.** . . . But now after hearing [Victim one]’s testimony it appears to be clear that’s what it is. So we think that the testimony of [Victim two] is -- will be **improper bolstering** of [Victim one]’s testimony.

(App. 217) (emphasis added). No only did he fail to continue his objection, he specifically conceded his prior objection and raised a new one. As a result of his acknowledgement regarding the similarities in the testimony, he altered his objection from one based on Lyle and Rule 404(b) to one based on improper bolstering.

The Record clearly demonstrates, the **only** request made to the circuit court to consider its ruling on Rule 404(b) came from the prosecutor and not the defendant. See, e.g., Brock v.

Bd. of Adjustment & Appeals of City of Rock Hill, 308 S.C. 539, 543, 419 S.E.2d 773, 776 (1992) (finding an issue is not preserved when it is not raised by the appellant and trial); Tupper v. Dorchester Cty., 326 S.C. 318, 324, 487 S.E.2d 187, 190 (1997) (finding appellant “cannot bootstrap an issue for appeal by way of a codefendant’s objection”); State v. Carriker, 269 S.C. 553, 238 S.E.2d 678 (1977) (finding issue not preserved because “appellant may not utilize the objection of another defendant to gain review”). Respondent in this case is clearly relying upon the State’s request for a final ruling in order to maintain the issue is preserved for review on appeal, and the Court of Appeals erred in ruling “the trial court understood [Respondent] was still arguing against admission of [the second victim’s] testimony as prior bad act evidence” based solely on the fact his ultimate ruling addressed the issue. This ruling is particularly in error when Respondent did nothing to indicate he was still arguing against admission based on Rule 404(b) and instead was arguing based on impermissible bolstering because the testimony was too similar.

Significantly, not only does Respondent attempt to rely on the State’s request for a ruling in order to create a preserved issue, but he also argues a completely different issue on appeal from what **he** raised to the trial court prior to the admission of the second victim’s testimony. The only way to read Respondent’s actual objection made during trial on the admission of the second victim’s testimony is as an objection based on improper bolstering—a different objection than what has been raised on appeal. As a result, the issue is not properly preserved for review on appeal. See State v. Stahlnecker, 386 S.C. 609, 617, 690 S.E.2d 565, 570 (2010) (“For an issue to be properly preserved it has to be raised to and ruled on by the trial court.”); State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (holding a defendant may not argue

one ground at trial and another on appeal); State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 377 S.E.2d 581 (1989) (stating the defendant may not argue one ground on appeal and an alternate ground on appeal).

The Court of Appeals erred in finding the issue preserved because the trial court addressed Rule 404(b). This ruling was for the benefit of the State and not based on any continuing objection from Respondent.⁴ The trial court also directly addressed Respondent's new challenge in which he argued about the grandmother coaching and the testimony being so similar that it constituted impermissible bolstering as a conspiracy. The trial court specifically noted Respondent's new contention: "The fact that the grandmother and you contend that the grandmother may have something to do this. That is something you can certainly argue to the jury if you want to when the time comes." (App.218). It is improper for this Court to utilize the trial court's response to the State's request to find an issue preserved on behalf of Respondent, especially when the trial court specifically addressed Respondent's new argument in the same ruling.

In addition, Respondent never challenged application of State v. Wallace, 384 S.C. 428, 683 S.E.2d 275 (2009) to a determination of whether the testimony was admissible under Rule 404(b). Unlike the defendant in State v. Perry, 430 S.C. 24, 824 S.E.2d 654 (2020), who directly maintained Wallace was the inappropriate standard, Respondent never raised that as a consideration for the circuit court. See State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) (providing that in order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court); see also, S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina

⁴ Respondent certainly could have continued his Rule 404(b) objection while raising a new objection if he had just let the court know that was his intention. Nowhere in the Record is there any indication given to the trial court that Respondent still believed Rule 404(b) to be an issue. In reality, the exact opposite is the case as Respondent not only declined to continue his objection, he agreed with the State that a common scheme or plan was established.

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