STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals  
Appeal from Lancaster County  
Honorable Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**

**Feb 18 2022**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

PETITIONER,

V.

GUADALUPE GUZMAN MORALES,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-000622

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

The fact that the grandmother and you contend that the grandmother may have something to do this. That is something you can certainly argue to the jury if you want to when the time comes. But with regards to the actual offering of Witness B as a witness, I'm going to find her testimony will be admissible and I will allow her to testify tomorrow.

(App. 217, line 22 – p. 218, lines 1-12).

### **Court of Appeals Decision.**

The Court of Appeals correctly found that the Rule 404(b) issue was not waived and was preserved for appellate review writing in a footnote:

As an initial matter, the State argues Morales's argument is unpreserved because he conceded similarities between the Victim's and Sister's testimonies when he stated:

It appears to me that it is becoming a little bit more clear as to where the conspiracy is, if that's what you want to call it; the pattern. And I think that now I'm seeing a pattern of ... conspiracy .... So we think that the testimony of [Sister] ... will be improper bolstering of [Victim's] testimony. We think it is improper and should not be allowed.

The State contends Morales's improper bolstering language is evidence he changed his objection and waived the Rule 404(b) issue. However, the trial court understood Morales was still arguing against the admission of Sister's testimony as prior bad act evidence and ruled, "I do find that the similarities outweigh the dissimilarities

and taking their testimony would tend to show a common scheme or plan by Mr. Morales.” Consequently, the issue is preserved. See State v. Hopkins, 431 S.C. 560, 569, 848 S.E.2d 368, 372 (Ct. App.2020) (“The failure to raise specific grounds for an objection will not prevent the appellate court from addressing an issue when the record indicates that the trial court and the State understood the basis for the objection.” (quoting State v. Bowers, 428 S.C. 21, 29, 832 S.E.2d 623, 627 (Ct. App.2019))).

State v. Morales, 433 S.C. at 201, 857 S.E.2d at 385, n. #4. The Court of Appeals correctly found that the issue is preserved for appellate review. The Court of Appeals correctly found that Respondent did not change the basis for the Rule 404(b) objection and did not waive the objection. The Court of Appeals correctly addressed the merits of the Rule 404(b) issue. The Court of Appeals correctly found that the testimony of Witness B did not meet the common plan or scheme exception to Rule 404(b) and the admission of that testimony requires reversal.

Petitioner first argues that the issue is not preserved because the State, not the Respondent, asked for a final ruling on the 404(b) issue. (BOP p. 9). The parties litigated the 404(b) issue pre-trial and the fact that the State asked for the final ruling on the 404(b) issue at trial does not deem the issue unpreserved. Respondent objected to the admission of testimony from Witness B at trial and, as the Court of Appeals correctly noted, “[T]he trial court understood Morales was still arguing against the admission of Sister’s testimony as prior bad act evidence and ruled, ‘I do find that the similarities outweigh the dissimilarities and taking their testimony would tend to show a common scheme or plan by Mr. Morales.’ Consequently, the issue is preserved.” State v. Morales, 433 S.C. at 201, 857 S.E.2d at 385, n. #4.

Petitioner’s reliance on Tupper v. Dorchester Cty., 326 S.C. 318, 487 S.E.2d 187 (1997), is misplaced. One of the co-defendants in Tupper, Suggs, argued on appeal that there was no writing memorializing the easement sufficient to satisfy the statute of frauds. The Court held that, “Suggs neither raised this issue, nor was it ruled on by the trial court; it is therefore not preserved

for review. Turbeville v. Gordon, 233 S.C. 75, 103 S.E.2d 521 (1958)(statute of frauds may not be raised for first time on appeal).<sup>3</sup>” Tupper., 326 S.C. at 324, 487 S.E.2d at 190. In footnote three the Court noted that although the statute of frauds issue was raised by another co-defendant, “appellant cannot bootstrap an issue for appeal by way of a codefendant's objection.” In the present case Respondent did not seek to “bootstrap” the 404(b) issue by way of a codefendant’s objection. Instead, the 404(b) issue was raised pre-trial, the State sought a final ruling on the 404(b) issue at trial and the judge ruled on the 404(b) issue. Unlike in Tupper, the 404(b) issue in the present case is preserved for review.

The same is true as to Petitioner’s reliance on State v. Carriker, 269 S.C. 553, 555, 238 S.E.2d 678, (1977), where the Court wrote, “The second point is not before this Court because appellant's counsel made no objection on this point at trial. While appellant's co-defendant did object, the appellant may not utilize the objection of another defendant to gain review. 4 C.J.S. Appeal and Error s 251 (1957).” In contrast, in the present case Respondent objected to the State’s use of Witness B’s testimony at trial and was not attempting to utilize the objection of another defendant to gain appellate review.

Second, Petitioner argues that Respondent argued a different issue on appeal than the issue raised at trial to the admission of Witness B’s testimony. (BOP p. 11). In an attempt to create a procedural bar to the 404(b) objection Petitioner, however, overemphasizes trial counsel’s use of the words, “improper bolstering,” when he objected saying, “So we think that the testimony of Witness B is – will be improper bolstering of Witness A’s testimony. We think it is improper and should not be allowed.” (App. p. 217, lines 4-21). Petitioner overlooks the fact that the objection continued pursuant to 404(b) and the trial judge’s ruling was based on Rule 404(b). The admission of improper propensity evidence often constitutes improper bolstering. In this case the use of the words improper bolstering in the objection did not change the 404(b) objection.

Third, Petitioner argues that Respondent never challenged application of the Wallace similarities standard. (BOP p. 12). Respondent challenged application of the Wallace similarities standard by basing the objection on Lyle not Wallace. By basing the objection on Lyle, Respondent relied on the trial judge to apply the Lyle standard.

In reversing Wallace this Court in Perry wrote:

For the first time in our jurisprudence, contrary to over eighty years of interpretation of Rule 404(b) and its pre-Rules predecessor Lyle, the Court stated, “A close degree of similarity establishes the required connection between the two acts and no further ‘connection’ must be shown for admissibility.” 384 S.C. at 436, 683 S.E.2d at 279; *see* (Pleicones, J., dissenting) (“We have repeatedly held in non-sexual offense cases that, ‘the mere presence of similarity only serves to enhance the potential for prejudice,’ yet under the majority’s view, similarity is the touchstone of admissibility in child sexual offense cases.” (citations omitted)); *State v. Perez*, 423 S.C. 491, 502, 816 S.E.2d 550, 556 (2018) (Hearn, J., concurring) (calling the majority opinion in Wallace “a marked departure from earlier case law requiring some connection between crimes beyond mere similarity”). We find this statement from—and the reasoning and holding in—our opinion in Wallace is based on a misunderstanding of Rule 404(b) and our cases interpreting it, particularly the “seminal” case Lyle. The decision in Wallace effectively created a new rule of evidence, and rendered meaningless the restrictive application of the common scheme or plan exception that is so deeply embedded in our precedent. Concurring in Perez, Justice Hearn challenged, “the Court should ... overturn ... State v. Wallace ... [because it] so expanded the admissibility of prior bad acts in sexual offense cases that the exception has swallowed the rule.” 423 S.C. at 501, 816 S.E.2d at 556 (Hearn, J., concurring). We now overrule Wallace.

430 S.C. at 35–37, 842 S.E.2d at 660–61, n. #3, #4 and #5 omitted. While Perry was decided after Respondent’s trial, the Court of Appeals properly utilized the “logical connection” test of Lyle rather than the “close degree of similarity”<sup>2</sup> test of Wallace because Wallace was based on a misunderstanding of Lyle, Lyle was also the law at the time of Respondent’s trial and remains the

---

<sup>2</sup> As noted above, there was not a close degree of similarity between the testimony of witness B and the charged crimes and the testimony was inadmissible under the now overruled Wallace similarities test.

law, and Respondent objected to the testimony of witness B based on Lyle. While Respondent did not specifically challenge the application of the Wallace similarities standard and did not specifically request application of the Lyle “logical connection” standard in objecting to the admission of Witness B’s testimony, Respondent cited Lyle. (App.p. 110, line 5- p. 111, 112, lines 1-24). The Court of Appeals properly utilized the “logical connection” test of Lyle and Perry rather than the “close degree of similarity” test of Wallace.

Petitioner argues that the analytical framework used in Perry should not apply to the present case because, citing Pantovich v. State, 427 S.C. 555, 563, 832 S.E.2d 596, 600 (2019)(n. #3 omitted):

Just as we do not require attorneys to be clairvoyant in anticipating changes to the law, we do not hold the PCR court erred in the face of what was—at the relevant time—clear and binding authority as expressed in Lee-Grigg and Green: a jury instruction on good character was warranted when a defendant introduced evidence thereof at trial. We cannot expect our circuit courts to divine future refinements in appellate jurisdiction – only to apply the prevailing law to the facts of a case before them.

(BOP p .13). Petitioner’s reliance on Pantovich is misplaced because Perry was not a “future refinement in appellate jurisdiction.” Instead, Perry confirmed the traditional “logical connection” test for Rule 404(b), SCRE, established in Lyle. At the time of Respondent’s trial Lyle was clear and binding authority. The framework established by Perry applies to the present case because Perry corrected the inconsistency between the similarity test Wallace purported to permit and the traditional logical connection test established by Lyle.

Additionally, Pantovich is procedurally distinct from the present case. The present case is a direct appeal case. Pantovich was a post-conviction relief [PCR] case in which this Court affirmed the PCR judge’s finding that appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise on direct appeal the trial judge’s refusal to instruct the jury on good character evidence. In PCR cases this

Court affords deference to a PCR court's findings of fact, but reviews questions of law de novo. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). In reviewing a trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence on direct appeal appellate courts recognize that the trial judge has considerable latitude in this regard and will not disturb such rulings absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 557, 732 S.E.2d 861, 866 (2012); State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 154, 682 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2009). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Whitner, 399 S.C. at 557, 732 S.E.2d at 866. The trial judge in Pantovich committed an error of law based on the clear and binding authority of State v. Green, 278 S.C. 239, 294 S.E.2d 335 (1982), and State v. Lee-Grigg, 387 S.C. 310, 692 S.E.2d 895 (2010). There were no cases with holdings inconsistent with Green and Lee-Grigg. The majority in Pantovich correctly agreed with the PCR judge and found that appellate counsel was ineffective in failing to raise on direct appeal the trial judge’s refusal to instruct the jury on good character evidence. Based on the clear and binding authority of the “logical connection” test of Lyle, the trial judge in the present case abused his discretion in admitting the testimony of Witness B. Perry corrected the inconsistency between Lyle and Wallace.

Addressing the modern trend of prohibiting jury charges that instruct the jury on how to interpret and use evidence, the majority in Pantovich wrote:

The State asks us to hold the “good character alone” charge is similarly impermissible because it is an unconstitutional comment on the facts. While we agree that this charge is improper, we do not reverse given this case's procedural posture. Fundamentally, a collateral review proceeding is ill-suited for announcing a new rule of substantive law pertaining to an underlying trial; appellate courts are to do so only in the rarest of circumstances. **This is especially true in a retrospective PCR analysis under *Strickland*, which seeks to determine whether counsel was ineffective at the time of the alleged error.**

427 S.C. at 562–63, 832 S.E.2d at 600 (emphasis added) (n. #2 omitted). The analysis in the present case is not bound by the retrospective PCR analysis under Strickland as in Pantovich. One additional factor to note in Pantovich is that the trial judge not only refused to instruct the jury with the “good character evidence alone” charge which is now improper, the trial judge also refused to instruct the jury with a more balanced and general good character charge as requested by the State. The Pantovich case does not prohibit use of the analytical framework of Perry to the present case.

In Perry this Court wrote:

As we said in Lyle, “Whether evidence of other ... crimes properly falls within any of the recognized exceptions ... is often a difficult matter to determine.” 125 S.C. at 416-17, 118 S.E. at 807. Rule 404(b) of our Rules of Evidence provides, “Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts ... may ... be admissible to show ... the existence of a common scheme or plan ...” The trial court's standard for making this determination is the Lyle “logical connection” test. The State must demonstrate to the trial court that there is in fact a scheme or plan common to both crimes, and that evidence of the other crime serves some purpose other than using the defendant's character to show his propensity to commit the crime charged.

430 S.C. at 44, 842 S.E.2d at 664–65. Lyle remained the law after Wallace and was the law at the time of Respondent’s trial. Respondent based his objection on Lyle. The judge understood the objection as pursuant to Lyle, Rule 404(b), and ruled accordingly. Asking the judge to apply the “logical connection” standard of Lyle, binding precedent at the time of trial, does not create a “gotcha” moment as suggested by Petitioner. (BOP p. 13).


Fourth, Petitioner argues that trial counsel waived or conceded the 404(b) issue at trial. (BOP pp. 14-15). Petitioner relies on trial counsel’s specific use of the words, “a pattern” and “saying the same thing,” in an attempt to show a concession to the existence of a common scheme or plan and waiver of the 404(b) objection. (BOP p. 14). Counsel, however, never stated that the testimony of Witness B was sufficiently similar to the testimony of Witness A to establish a common scheme or plan. Counsel never agreed that the State established a common scheme or

plan pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE. Instead, counsel's reference to a pattern of saying the same thing referenced both girls making general allegations against Respondent as vindication and under the influence of the grandmother, a theme of the defense throughout the trial, not a concession to the existence of a common scheme or plan pursuant to Rule 404(b). Counsel never stated that there was a logical connection between the testimony of Witness A and the testimony of Witness B. While counsel did not restate the objection as specifically based on Lyle, Rule 404(b), counsel objected on these grounds pre-trial and at trial additionally objected as improper and bolstering. The judge understood the objection as pursuant to Lyle, Rule 404(b), and ruled accordingly. The ruling, however, admitting the testimony of Witness B as the common scheme or plan exception of Rule 404(b) was error. Respondent did not waive the Rule 404(b) issue. Respondent did not concede the Rule 404(b) issue. The issue is preserved for appellate review.

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